IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JASON JONES
Appellant,

Electronically Filed Sep 04 2013 08:41 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

Docket No. 63136

Direct Appeal From A Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Valerie Adair, District Judge District Court No. C-12-285488-1

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JoNell Thomas
State Bar #4771
Deputy Special Public Defender
David M. Schieck
State Bar #0824
Special Public Defender
330 South 3rd Street
Las Vegas, NV 89155
(702) 455-6265
Attorneys for Appellant

I.	Jurisdictional Statement		
II.	Statement of the Issues		
III.	Statement of the Case		
IV.	Statement of the Facts		
V.	Summary of the Argument		
VI.	Argument		
	A.	The District Court Abused Its Discretion In Failing To Hold An Evidentiary Hearing On Jason's Motion For Substitution of Counsel	
	B.	The State's Evidence Is Insufficient To Support The Jury's Verdict	
	C.	The District Court Abused its Discretion in Allowing a Detective to Give Unsupported Character Evidence about Witnesses and Their Neighborhood	
	D.	There District Court Erred In Instructing The Jury	
	E.	The Judgment Should Be Reversed Because of Cumulative Error . 46	
VII.	Conclusion		
	Certi	ficate of Compliance	
	Certificate of Service		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Case Authority

<u>Anderson v. Harless,</u> 459 U.S. 4, 6-7 (1982)
Bland v. Dept. of Corrections, 20 F.3d 1469 (9th Cir.1994)
Brooks v. State, 124 Nev. 203, 180 P.3d 657 (2008)
Brower v. State, 728 P.2d 645 (Alaska Ct. App. 1986)
Buchanan v. State, 119 Nev. 201, 69 P.3d 694 (2003)
Butler v. State, 120 Nev. 879, 102 P.3d 71 (2004)
<u>Cage v. Louisiana,</u> 498 U.S. 39 (1990)
<u>Chambers v. Mississippi,</u> 410 U.S. 284 (1973)
<u>Chavez v. State,</u> 125 Nev. 328, 213 P.3d 476 (2009)
<u>Crawford v. State,</u> 121 Nev. 746, 121 P.3d 582 (2005)
<u>Estelle v. Williams,</u> 425 U.S. 501 (1976)

Evans v. State,
117 Nev. 609, 28 P.3d 498 (2001)
Ex parte McGriff,
908 So. 2d 1024 (Ala. 2004)
Farrell v. United States,
391 A.2d 755 (D.C.1978)
Funderburk v. State,
125 Nev. 260, 212 P.3d 337 (2009)
Gallego v. State,
117 Nev. 348, 23 P.3d 227 (2001)
Gaxiola v. State,
121 Nev. 633, 119 P.3d 1225 (2005)
<u>Green v. State,</u> 113 Nev. 157, 931 P.2d 54 (1997)
113 Nev. 137, 931 F.2d 34 (1997)
<u>In re Miguel,</u> 649 P.2d 703, 705-06 (Cal. 1982)
<u>In re Winship,</u> 397 U.S. 358 (1970)
<u>Jackson v. State,</u> 117 Nev. 116, 17 P.3d 998 (2001)
<u>Jackson v. Virginia,</u> 443 U.S. 307 (1979)
<u>Kentucky v. Whorton,</u> 441 U.S. 786 (1979) 42
<u>Lay v. State,</u> 110 Nev. 1189, 886 P.2d 448 (1994)

<u>Leonard v. State,</u>
114 Nev. 1196, 969 P.2d 288 (1998)
Lord v. State,
107 Nev. 28, 806 P.2d 548 (1991)
Mclellen v. State,
24 Nev. 263, 182 P.3d 106 (2008)
Mikes v. Borg,
947 F.2d 353 (9th Cir. 1991)
Montana v. Egelhoff,
518 U.S. 37 (1996)
Morales v. State,
122 Nev. 966, 143 P.3d 463 (2006)
Morris v. Slappy,
461 U.S. 1 (1983)
Mullaney v. Wilbur,
421 U.S. 684 (1975)
Nay v. State,
123 Nev. 326, 167 P.3d 430 (2007)
Nunnery v. State,
263 P.3d 235 (Nev. 2011),
Parle v. Runnels,
505 F.3d 922 (9th Cir. 2007)
People v. Madrid,
213 Cal.Rptr. 813 (Cal.App. 1985)
Schell v. Witek,
218 F.3d 1017 (9th Cir. 2000)

State v. Giant,
37 P.3d 49 (Mont. 2001)
State v. Pierce,
906 S.W.2d 729 (Mo. Ct. App. 1995)
State v. Pursifell,
746 P.2d 270 (Utah Ct.App.1987)
State v. Ramsey,
782 P.2d 480 (Utah 1989)
State v. Robar,
601 A.2d 1376 (Vt. 1991)
State v. Vessey,
967 P.2d 960 (Utah App. 1998)
Sullivan v. Louisiana,
508 U.S. 275 (1993)
T. 1
<u>Taylor v. Kentucky,</u> 436 U.S. 478 (1978)
Thompson v. State,
125 Nev. 807, 221 P.3d 708 (2009)
United States v. Bahe,
40 F.Supp.2d 1302 (D. N.M. 1998)
United States v. Goldberg,
67 F.3d 1092 (3d Cir.1995)
United States v. Moore,
159 F.3d 1154 (9th Cir. 1998)
United States v. Necoechea,
986 F.2d 1273 (9th Cir. 1993)

<u>United States v. Orduno-Aguilera</u> ,
183 F.3d 1138 (9th Cir. 1999)
United States v. Orrico,
599 F.2d 113 (6th Cir. 1979)
United States v. Prime,
431 F.3d 1147 (9th Cir. 2005)
Young v. State,
120 Nev. 963, 102 P.3d 572 (2004)
Statutowy Authority
Statutory Authority
NRS 48.015
NRS 175.191 40
NRS 175.201
NRS 1/3.201 40, 41
NRS 175.211 37
NRS 178.598
NRS 193.165
NRS 200.010
NRS 200.030
Other Authority
Goldman, Guilt By Intuition: The Insufficiency of Prior Inconsistent Statements To Convict, 65 N.C.L. Rev. 1 (1986)

I. <u>JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT</u>

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction, entered pursuant to a jury verdict, for one count of second degree murder with use of a deadly weapon. The judgment of conviction was filed on April 29, 2013. A timely notice of appeal was filed on May 3, 2013. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRS 177.015(3).

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Whether the district court abused its discretion in failing to hold an evidentiary hearing on Jason's motion for substitution of counsel.
- B. Whether there is insufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict.
- C. Whether the district court abused its discretion in allowing a detective to give unsupported character evidence about witnesses and their neighborhood.
- D. Whether the district court erred in instructing the jury.
- E. Whether the conviction should be reversed because of cumulative error.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 14, 2012, the State charged Appellant Jason Jones, by way of Information, with one count of first degree murder with use of a deadly weapon. 1 App. 1. On November 27, 2012, Jason entered a plea of not guilty and invoked his right to a speedy trial. 1 App. 8. He stated that he did not want his counsel to file any petitions or motions on his behalf. 1 App. 8.

On December 17, 2012, Jason's counsel filed a pretrial petition for a writ of habeas corpus, or in the alternative, a motion for remand for admission of evidence of other acts and defenses. 1 App. 39. The State opposed the petition and motion. 1 App. 72. The district court found that there was sufficient evidence and denied the petition. 2 App. 180; 15 App. 1504.

On January 10, 2012, Jason filed a proper person motion to dismiss counsel. 2 App. 168, 172. The district court denied the motion without holding an evidentiary hearing. 2 App. 175.

Calendar call was held on January 17, 2013. 3 App. 212. It was disclosed that the State made a plea offer for voluntary manslaughter with use of a deadly weapon, pursuant to the Alford decision, and there would be a stipulated sentence of two consecutive terms of two and a half to seven and a half years. 3 App. 216. In addition, the State would not seek a habitual criminal adjudication and all other charges would be dismissed. 3 App. 216. The offer was rejected. 3 App. 219. Jason again noted that he disagreed with counsel and had tried to dismiss counsel. 3 App. 222. The district court stated that there was nothing else to discuss and concluded the proceeding. 3 App. 222.

Trial began on January 22, 2013. 3 App. 223. During jury selection, Jason's counsel objected to the composition of the jury panel because there was only one

identifiable African-American. 3 App. 259. The district court found that there "were several people of color, different racial and ethnic groups." 3 App. 259. The district court also found that a defendant is not entitled to have a certain panel so long as the group of prospective jurors that are summoned for all cases represent a cross-section of the community. 3 App. 260.

Jason proposed jury instructions. 8 App. 780. He also filed written objections to the State's proposed jury instructions. 8 App. 797. Jury instructions were settled on January 29, 2013. 14 App. 1412; 15 App. 1506. Details are discussed below.

The jury returned its verdict on July 29, 2013. 15 App. 1538. It found Jason guilty of second degree murder with use of a deadly weapon. 15 App. 1539; 1543.

The State filed a sentencing memorandum. 15 App. 1545. The sentencing hearing took place on April 4, 2013. 15 App. 1582. The district court imposed a sentence of life in prison with parole eligibility after 10 years, and a consecutive term of 60 to 240 months for use of a deadly weapon. 15 App. 1592.

On April 29, 2013, the district court entered its Judgment of Conviction. 15 App. 1595. A timely notice of appeal was filed on May 3, 2013. 15 App. 1597. This Opening Brief now follows.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 17, 2012, at around 10:30 p.m., Jaime Corona was shot while he was

in his apartment, at 1416 F Street, Apartment 10, in Las Vegas. The State alleged that Appellant Jason Jones committed the offense. Jason contended that he was not the person who shot Jaime.

Jaime's apartment was located in an apartment complex that consisted of 18 one-bedroom units, which were located in a U-shape, around a courtyard. 7 App. 669. Both Jaime and Jason resided in the apartment complex and their apartments were across from each other. Jason lived with his fiancé Denise Williams, their child, and another child who belonged to the fiancé.

A couple of days prior to the shooting, there was a break-in at the apartment rented by Jason and Denise. 10 App. 954. Electronics were on the floor, it looked like the apartment had been tossed, and there were broken items. 10 App. 954. Some items were missing. 10 App. 956. Both Jason and Denise were upset. 10 App. 957. The following day, Denise asked neighbors if they saw anyone. 10 App. 957. She believed that the issues between Jaime and Jason concerning the break-in had been resolved prior to Father's Day. 10 App. 981. Jason and Jaime were friends, they had a good friendship and talked almost every day. 10 App. 982. Any hard feelings had been resolved and there was no ill-will. 10 App. 1007; 11 App. 1147.

¹A detective testified that Denise gave a statement on the night of the shooting in which she discussed the break-in. 11 App. 1115. Denise said that Jaime still owed Jason some money. 11 App. 1116. She also said that Jaime was upset when he found out his apartment was burglarized and the money that was owed to him was a result

On Friday, June 15th, apartment resident Jimmie Brown talked with Jason. 9 App. 871. Jimmie claimed that Jason approached him and asked whether he saw anyone break into Jason's apartment the prior night. 9 App. 872. Jason said that someone broke into his apartment, tore up items, broke his chair into pieces, and possibly took his microwave. 9 App. 872. At that time, Jason did not know who had broken into his apartment. 9 App. 905. Jason asked other neighbors, including Jaime, about the break-in. 9 App. 873, 909. Several hours later, Jason went to Jaime's door and seemed excited. 9 App. 873. Jason was pretty calm and was curious about what happened in his apartment.² 9 App. 915, 918, 925. Jimmie did not see Jaime and did not hear anything that was said. 9 App. 874. Jason did not ever tell Jimmie who it was that broke into his apartment. 9 App. 906. Jimmie did not ever hear Jason threaten Jaime. 9 App. 916. He did not see Jason with a pistol or gun in his hands. 9 App. 916.

A couple of days prior to the time that Jaime was shot, another neighbor, William Coleman, saw Jason talk to their neighbor Vincent. 7 App. 705-06. William heard Jason say to Vincent that "I'm getting my money." 7 App. 707. Jason seemed

of that burglary. 11 App. 1116. At trial, Denise did not recall telling officers that she and Jason confronted Jaime about the apartment, he gave Jason the stuff back that he had taken, gave him \$50, and agreed that he owed Jason another \$50. 10 App. 958.

²The apparent inconsistencies in this statement of facts are reflective of the inconsistencies presented by the testimony.

upset. 7 App. 707. William could not hear the entire conversation. 7 App. 724. William did not know who owed money to Jason. 7 App. 725.

On the Friday or Saturday before the shooting, William noticed that Jaime had been struck on the head with a stick or something and he had to have stitches on his head. 7 App. 731; 11 App. 1050. Jimmie testified that Jaime had been in a fight and had been stabbed. 9 App. 909. Jimmie did not have any knowledge of Jason being involved in that matter. 9 App. 909. Bradley Sappington was arrested for the offense that caused Jaime's injury the day before the shooting. 11 App. 1117; 13 App. 1327. Bradley was in custody at the time of the shooting and he had not made any telephone calls from the jail. 11 App. 1117; 13 App. 1327.

On Sunday, later in the morning, Jimmie had a cigarette with Jason. 9 App. 874, 917. Later that day, just before dark, Jimmie saw Jason talking through Jaime's door, but he did not see Jaime. 9 App. 875, 917. Jimmie could not hear what they were saying. 9 App. 875. He also saw Jason knock on Jaime's door. 9 App. 876. Jimmie heard Jason say that they needed to talk. 9 App. 878. Jason was not angry. 9 App. 918-19. Jimmie did not see Jason with a gun and has never seen him with one in the past. 9 App. 919.

Loretta Coleman, who is William's sister, was in Jaime's apartment when

someone banged on the door and yelled at Jaime about money.³ 8 App. 820-21. She heard something about five, but did not know if it meant five thousand, five billion, or something else. 8 App. 822. The TV was on and they were listening to music, so it was pretty loud inside. 8 App. 848. Someone would have had to have knocked loudly to get their attention as there was no doorbell.⁴ 8 App. 848. Jaime called 911 around 9:00 p.m., and reported that someone was banging on his door and there was loud music. 7 App. 652; 8 App. 822, 826. During the call, Loretta, who was highly intoxicated, said "I don't know who it is. He knows my name, but I don't know him." 8 App. 827. She did not ever look outside. 8 App. 828.

Patrol officers responded at 9:18 p.m. and left 10 or 15 minutes later. 7 App. 652. The officers reported that Jaime was extremely intoxicated, very excited, and it was difficult for them to communicate with him because of his intoxication. 7 App. 653. They instructed Jaime to make a report when he was sober. 7 App. 654. No one else was in Jaime's apartment. 7 App. 654. Jaime did not mention Jason to the officers. 7 App. 659.

³Loretta acknowledged that she suffers from schizophrenia and depression. 8 App. 830, 843. Her memories about the events come and go. 8 App. 845.

⁴Jimmie also testified that it was necessary to hit the door real hard in order to get someone's attention, and that just banging on the door did not mean that there was animosity or anger. 9 App. 911. The doors in the apartment complex were banged on daily. 9 App. 911.

Jimmie saw Jason that night after the police left Jaime's apartment.⁵ 9 App. 884, 922. At trial, Jimmie could not recall what Jason said to Jaime.⁶ 9 App. 890, 922. Jimmie did not hear Jason yell and he did not seem excited or angry. 9 App. 922. Jimmie did not see Jason with a gun. 9 App. 923. Jimmie knew Jason and Jaime to be friends and he never saw them fight or argue. 9 App. 925.

Several neighbors heard a gunshot that night. Calls were made to 911 at 10:38 p.m. 7 App. 662. Several occupants of the apartment complex were present in the courtyard when officers arrived. 7 App. 664, 686.

Jimmie was asleep at the time of the shooting. 9 App. 923. He took a sleeping pill. 9 App. 892. After falling asleep, he did not see Jason at the apartment

⁵On direct examination, Jimmie testified that he did not see Jason after the police left. 9 App. 884. At the preliminary hearing, Jimmie testified that Jason went back to Jaime's door about 30 or 45 minutes after the police left. 9 App. 884-86. At trial, Jimmie did not recall making this statement. 9 App. 884-86. He believed that it was not yet dark when Jason went to Jaime's door the second time. 9 App. 887. During the second time that Jason went to the door, Jimmie saw Jason knock at the door. 9 App. 888.

⁶Jimmie acknowledged that he was friends with both Jason and Jaime. 9 App. 891. At the preliminary hearing, Jimmie testifed that Jason said that Jaime needed to come out and talk to him. 9 App. 891. At trial, Jimmie thought this happened the first time Jason knocked at the door. 9 App. 891.

⁷Jimmie takes oxycodone for his spine. 9 App. 892, 900. He takes it four or five times a day and takes a couple of muscle relaxers and sleeping pills. 9 App. 893, 900-01. He also smoked marijuana that day. 9 App. 897.

complex.⁸ 9 App. 893. He woke up due to his barking dog, talked with the police, and later gave a statement. 9 App. 896.

Loretta was inside of Jaime's apartment at the time he was shot. 7 App. 665, 681; 8 App. 818, 828. She was intoxicated and had been drinking with Jaime most of the day. 7 App. 682, 726; 8 App. 818; 11 App. 1080. Loretta was asleep and did not see who shot Jaime. 8 App. 828. She did not remember the gunshot. 8 App. 828. A detective testified that when he interviewed Loretta she was intoxicated and her emotional state was elevated. 11 App. 1081. After the shooting, she was

⁸He saw Jason's girlfriend, Denise, moving about a week after the incident. 9 App. 894, 923. At the preliminary hearing he stated that he saw Jason after the police left. 9 App. 899.

⁹Detective Ivey was not aware that Loretta suffers from schizophrenia. 11 App. 1128. He did not ask her about medications that she was taking. 11 App. 1128. The detective recorded her statement. 11 App. 1129. He did not interview her a second time. 11 App. 1130.

¹⁰Loretta told detectives that she heard one or two bangs and then Jaime fell on the floor. 8 App. 831. She also told a detective that she remembered Jaime going towards the door, opening it, and then she heard the bangs and he fell to the floor. 8 App. 832. Prior to opening the door, she heard voices and there could have been more than one person outside. 8 App. 850-52. She did not recognize the person at the door as a neighbor. 8 App. 857. She also testified that she did not see the person who did the shooting, but she knew someone was outside because she heard his voice. 8 App. 858. At trial, she could not remember whether there was one or two people outside. 8 App. 860.

¹¹Over a defense objection, a detective testified, based upon a finding of admissibility as a prior consistent statement and excited utterance, that Loretta stated she heard a man knock on the windows and heard a male voice from outside asking

hysterical, and she ran out of the apartment. 8 App. 832. Loretta did not know Jason. 8 App. 834.

William and his girlfriend Jovonne Butler were in the bedroom of their apartment, watching television, at the time of the shooting. 7 App. 689, 693, 714, 742-44. After hearing a shot, William went to the window, looked out, and saw somebody standing by a small black car, and then saw the car drive off. 7 App. 693, 696, 711. He did not see where the person came from and did not know the person, but he recalled that the person was a male with short hair. 12 7 App. 694, 715. There

for money which Jaime owed him. 11 App. 1082. Loretta said she heard the man use her name and Jaime's name. 11 App. 1083. She said the man mentioned five dollars. 11 App. 1083. Loretta said that the person banged on the window so hard that she thought it was going to break. 11 App. 1085. Loretta also gave a statement to defense counsel. 12 App. 1285. She appeared to be sober at the time. 12 App. 1285. She told defense counsel that she did not see the person who was at the door. 12 App. 1285. She also said that she did not see Jason. 12 App. 1285.

¹²William acknowledged talking with a police officer on June 17th. 7 App. 694. At trial, he did not recall telling an officer than Jason was the person he saw running to the car. 7 App. 696. He did not recall identifying a car that was shown to him by officers. 7 App. 698. William did not recall telling officers that he saw Jason prior in the day and did not recall saying that he saw Jason knocking at Jaime's door and demanding money. 7 App. 701-03. In his voluntary statement, William did not state that he saw a gun and he stated that he only heard the shot. 11 App. 1141. When William met with a defense investigator, he stated that his written statement was accurate and he did not say that he saw Jason run away from the apartment complex and then drive away. 12 App. 1287. Javonne testified that she previously met with the prosecutor and an investigator and told them that William said he saw "J" running out of the room and getting in a car. 7 App. 745. She did not state this in her statement to the police or when she met with the defense investigator about a month after the offense. 7 App. 769.

were two similar cars at the apartment complex, but he believed that it was not the car that belonged to the short Mexican lady.¹³ 7 App. 721, 736. He only saw the car for a second. 7 App. 738. William could not tell which car drove away.¹⁴ 7 App. 721. He had previously seen Jason and his girlfriend drive the black car. 7 App. 697.

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