IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JASON JONES,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Oct 09 2013 03:18 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 63136

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JONELL THOMAS Nevada Bar #004771 Deputy Special Public Defender 330 South 3rd Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-6265 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

A. Standard of Review

The decision to admit or exclude evidence is within the sound discretion of the district court. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 772, 776, 942 P.2d 167, 170 (1997). This Court has held that the district court's decision to admit or exclude evidence will not be disturbed absent manifest abuse of discretion. <u>See Hughes v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 84, 88, 910 P.2d 254, 256 (1996). Relevant evidence is generally admissible. <u>See</u> NRS 48.025. However, even relevant evidence may be inadmissible if the danger of unfair prejudice outweighs its admission. NRS 48.035(1).

Although out-of-court statements are generally inadmissible as hearsay,³ NRS 51.035 states:

"Hearsay" means a statement offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted unless:

2. The declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement, and the statement is:

26

³ See generally NRS 51.035, 51.065.

(a) inconsistent with the declarant's testimony.

As Appellant objected to the admission of this evidence, this Court reviews

for harmless error. 11 AA 1077; <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1190, 196 P.3d

465, 477 (2008). NRS 178.598 ("Harmless error") states: "Any error, defect,

irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be

disregarded."

В. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion by Admitting This

Neighborhood-Reluctance Evidence

Det. Ivie testified about his experiences getting statements from witnesses

who lived in the neighborhood surrounding 1416 F Street:

The State: As a homicide detective, you said you'd try to talk to everybody. Has it been your experience that sometimes it's difficult

to get everybody to talk to you?

Det. Ivie: Absolutely.

The State: Why is that?

Det. Ivie: Some people are reluctant to come forward, for all kinds of

reasons. Some people live in certain—

Defense Counsel: Objection, Your Honor. This calls for speculation.

The State: Based on his experience.

The Court: Well . . .

Defense Counsel: Irrelevant as to this case.

The Court: He can testify as to whether, in his experience, people—

if it's unusual or not for people to be reluctant.

27

The State: Based on your experience as a homicide detective, and you testified it is somewhat usual for people to be reluctant to talk to you?

Det. Ivie: Yes.

The State: All right. But at the same, too, other people are willing to talk to you?

Det. Ivie: Yes.

The State: All right. Now, where was this crime scene? Again, you described it as 1416 F Street?

Det. Ivie: Yes.

. . . .

The State: All right. And you've investigated crime scenes in this particular area before?

Det. Ivie: Yes.

The State: As a homicide detective, have you had difficulty obtaining witnesses—getting witness statements in this area?

Det. Ivie: Yes.

The State: What have your difficulties been with cases in this area?

Defense Counsel: Objection, Your Honor. Relevance.

The Court: Overruled.

The State: What types of difficulties have you had getting witnesses to speak with you in this area?

. . . .

Det. Ivie: It's difficult, because it's—it's—has many, many crimes going on. Usually it's neighbors or people they know. People are reluctant. There's fear of retaliation.

Defense Counsel: Objection, Your Honor. Can I approach the bench?

The Court: Yeah. Well, don't—don't, you know, speculate as to what people might be thinking. So . . .

Go on, Mr. Pandelis. Would you say it's a high crime area?

Defense Counsel: Your Honor.

Det. Ivie: Absolutely.

Defense Counsel: Your Honor.

The Court: All right.

Defense Counsel: I'd—I'd move it be stricken. I'd move it be stricken

The Court: My question?

Defense Counsel: No, I'm sorry.

Defense Counsel: His response.

Defense Counsel: The prior response and—and actually, if we can approach the bench.

The Court: Well, that—that's overruled.

Defense Counsel: All right.

The Court: You can approach, if you want to.

Defense Counsel: Thank you.

11 AA 1076-79.

After the bench conference (which was not transcribed), the district court concluded that Det. Ivie's opinion on the reluctance of witnesses living around 1416 F Street to testify was relevant to explain why William might feel compelled to change his story on the witness stand. 11 AA 1109-13. As the court observed, the State questioned Det. Ivie if he had ever had problems getting witnesses who lived in "this area" to testify. Det. Ivie never testified that William indicated he was afraid of Appellant. William specifically referenced the "neighborhood" he lived in as the basis for his fear of talking to the police. 11 AA 1086-87. Moreover, William indicated on the stand he was scared to be testifying for fear of what could happen to his sister—Appellant's apparent presence in custody notwithstanding. 7 AA 737-38. Additionally, and as the district court found, Appellant's arrest did not cure the pressures not to testify from sources beyond Appellant's knowledge or control, such as being labeled a "snitch" or the stigma that could come with giving a statement to police or testifying. 11 AA 1111-12.

Moreover, the district court found that defense counsel opened the door for the State to allow this neighborhood-reluctance evidence during its opening statement. 11 AA 1112-13. There, defense counsel alluded to William's anticipated testimony, stating that:

Some people may not want to talk to the police. They may come and say, well, is anybody out there? I'll tell you this, but you're not recording me, are you? Well, once somebody is arrested, they're no

longer a threat, then presumably [indiscernible] will go away, and they can speak the truth.

6 AA 648-49. This Court has held that "a party will not be heard to complain on appeal of errors which he himself induced or provoked the court or the opposite party to commit." Pearson v. Pearson, 110 Nev. 293, 297, 871 P.2d 343, 345 (1994). For this doctrine to apply, "it is sufficient that the party who on appeal complains of the error has contributed to it." Id. As the district court found, when defense counsel affirmatively said in opening statement that there was no longer anything for the reluctant witnesses to be scared of because Appellant had been arrested, the State was allowed to respond with non-prejudicial evidence demonstrating the general reluctance of witnesses in that neighborhood to testify. 11 AA 1112-13. Additionally, to the extent Det. Ivie testified that the neighborhood was a high-crime area, the district court found this "cut to [Appellant's] benefit," as it indicated a number of other things could have occurred that led to Jaime's death. 11 AA 1110.

For these reasons, the district court found Det. Ivie's statement was not prejudicial and properly admitted it. However, even if the district court did err in admitting this neighborhood-reluctance evidence, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The jury heard substantial evidence of Appellant's guilt, and both Det. Ivie and Jovonne testified to William's prior inconsistent statement. This neighborhood-reluctance evidence did not imply that Appellant was somehow

responsible for witness intimidation, but did explain the apparent reluctance of witnesses, such as William and Jovonne, to testify or to testify truthfully. Det. Ivie did not claim that Appellant was the source of this fear with respect to any witnesses at trial, and in fact the district court specifically instructed him not to speculate on this matter. This testimony of non-specific fears of retaliation against witnesses did not prejudice Appellant as to the crime already committed, especially in light of the evidence presented against him, and the statements of witnesses themselves that they were afraid to be testifying because of fears of retaliation.

Based on the foregoing record, the district court did not commit a manifest abuse of discretion in admitting Det. Ivie's statement, and this Court should not disturb that decision here.

C. Appellant Was Not Entitled to a Mistrial

At the bench conference, defense counsel moved for a mistrial, which the district court denied. 11 AA 1109-10. "It is within the sound discretion of the trial court to determine whether a mistrial is warranted." Meegan v. State, 114 Nev. 1150, 968 P.2d 292, 295 (1998), abrogated on other grounds by Vanisi v. State, 117 Nev. 330, 22 P.3d 1164 (2001). "Absent a clear showing of abuse of discretion, the trial court's determination will not be disturbed on appeal." Id.

Due to Appellant's failure to demonstrate that the district court abused its discretion in admitting this evidence, the district court clearly did not abuse its

discretion by refusing to grant a mistrial, and this Court should not disturb that decision.

IV THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY

Appellant claims the district court gave two erroneous jury instructions.

AOB 35. These claims likewise fail.

A. Standard of Review

A district court has broad discretion to settle jury instructions, and this Court reviews that decision for an abuse of discretion or judicial error. Hoagland v. State, 126 Nev. ____, ___, 240 P.3d 1043, 1045 (2010) (citing Crawford v. State, 121 Nev. 744, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005)). "An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." Crawford, 121 Nev. at 748, 121 P.3d at 585. Where an instruction correctly states the law and summarizes the statutory definition of the crime, this Court has found no abuse of discretion. Id.

This Court presumes "that juries follow district court orders and instructions." <u>Summers</u>, 122 Nev. at 1334, 148 P.3d at 783. Even if the district court errs in its instruction, where a jury would have nevertheless found Appellant guilty "absent the error," this error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Grey v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 110, 123, 178 P.3d 154, 163 (2008).

A district court need not instruct the jury on redundant principles. Elvik v. State, 114 Nev. 883, 899, 965 P.2d 281, 291 (1998). Likewise, "[w]here the district court refuses a jury instruction on defendant's theory of the case that is substantially covered by other instructions, it does not commit reversible error." Earl v. State, 111 Nev. 1304, 1308, 904 P.2d 1029, 1031 (1995) (citing Shannon v. State, 105 Nev. 782, 787, 783 P.2d 942, 945 (1989); Bean v. State, 81 Nev. 25, 34, 398 P.2d 251, 256 (1965).

B. The District Court's Instruction on Presumption of Innocence Was Proper Defense counsel objected to instruction No. 10, which stated (in relevant part):

The Defendant is presumed innocent until the contrary is proved. This presumption places upon the State the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt every material element of the crime charged and that the Defendant is the person who committed the offense.

AOB 36; 15 AA 1515. Appellant's stated objection was to the lack of instruction as to which elements were "material." AOB 37; 14 AA 1417.

[Appellant] also argues that one jury instruction was improper because it stated that the State had the burden of "proving beyond a reasonable doubt every material element of the crime charged" without specifying the elements that are material. This court has repeatedly upheld such language. See, e.g., Morales v. State, 122 Nev. 966, 971, 143 P.3d 463, 466 (2006) [citing the exact jury instruction given in the instant case]; Crawford v. State, 121 Nev. 744, 751, 121 P.3d 582, 586 (2005); Gaxiola v. State, 121 Nev. 638,

650, 119 P.3d 1225, 1233 (2005); <u>Leonard v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 1196, 1209, 969 P.2d 288, 296 (1998). Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion in giving this instruction.

Accordingly, this issue is well-settled, and thus Appellant's claim should be denied.

Appellant asserts that this "error" requires reversal because this Court's holding in Nunnery that giving the material-elements instruction did not constitute an abuse of discretion was insufficiently reasoned. This claim must fail, as the absence of reasoning in the opinion does not change the substance of its holding. The district court could not have "exceed[ed] the bounds of law or reason" in instructing the jury in accordance with case law. See Jackson v. State, 117 Nev. 116, 120, 17 P.3d 998, 1000 (2001). That the amount of reasoning behind it does not meet Appellant's standards is of no moment.

Appellant also briefly contends that this jury instruction likewise constituted structural error. AOB 42; see also Cortinas v. State, 124 Nev. 1013, 1024, 195 P.3d 315, 322 (2008) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted). The United States Supreme Court has held that erroneous reasonable doubt instructions may constitute structural error. Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 281-82, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 2083 (1993). However, as this instruction was not an erroneous statement of the law, but in fact, a proper one as demonstrated supra, this claim of structural error is without merit.

Finally, and in the alternative, Appellant contends that this "highly prejudicial" instruction violated his substantial rights. AOB 42-43. Appellant further argues that the jury's failure to convict him for first-degree murder is somehow proof that the evidence of his conviction for second-degree murder was not overwhelming. These statements are spurious. Appellant ignores 1) the fact that an eyewitness placed him banging on Jaime's door before—and running from the scene moments after—Jaime was shot, 2) his texts seeking a weapon of the same caliber that killed Jaime, and 3) the evidence of his conflict with Jaime, among other things. This evidence was, in fact, overwhelming, and it should be clear that a jury would have found Appellant guilty absent this "error." As Appellant has utterly failed to demonstrate how a wholly-proper jury instruction prejudiced him, these statements should be disregarded.

C. The District Court's Instruction on Voluntary Manslaughter Was Proper

Appellant also contends that the district court erred in its instruction on voluntary manslaughter. AOB 43; 15 AA 1530-31. The district court's instructions were essentially recitations of the statutory definitions of manslaughter. See NRS 200.040, 200.060; 15 AA 1530. The district court also gave specific instructions describing how and in what manner homicide would be reduced to manslaughter. As Instruction 26 described in relevant part:

The heat of passion which will reduce homicide to Voluntary Manslaughter must be such an irresistible passion as naturally would

be aroused in the mind of an ordinarily reasonable person in the same circumstances

15 AA 1531 (emphasis added). Further, Instruction 27—which Appellant omits from his discussion—stated that:

If you find the State has established that the defendant has committed murder you shall select the appropriate degree of murder as your verdict. The crime of murder may include the crime of voluntary manslaughter. You may find the defendant guilty of voluntary manslaughter if:

- 1. You have not found, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant is guilty of murder of either the first or second degree, and
- 2. All twelve of you are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant is guilty of the crime of voluntary manslaughter.

If you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the killing was unlawful, but you have a reasonable doubt whether the crime is murder or voluntary manslaughter, you must give the defendant the benefit of that doubt and return a verdict of voluntary manslaughter.

15 AA 1532.

Appellant proffered the following *additional* instruction:

If after the consideration of all the evidence you have a reasonable doubt as to whether or not the defendant acted in a heat of passion caused by the requisite legal passion, you must return a verdict of voluntary manslaughter. This is because the State has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did not act in the heat of passion.

8 AA 804.

Based on Instructions 26 and 27, Appellant's additional proffered instruction was redundant. It was clear from the given instructions that passion was a material element of the offense, and that the jury would have to find such passion beyond a reasonable doubt to overcome Appellant's presumption of innocence and reduce

Appellant's homicide charges to manslaughter. Additionally, this Court has held that even where a jury receives an incorrect instruction on voluntary manslaughter, the error is harmless if the jury would nevertheless have reached the same conclusion at trial. Schoels v. State, 114 Nev. 981, 986, 966 P.2d 735, 738 (1998) (upholding a conviction of first-degree murder). Based on the evidence against Appellant here, the jury would have reached the same verdict notwithstanding Appellant's redundant proffered instruction.

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